## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

DEERE & COMPANY	
APPELLANT/INTERVENING DEFENDANT	) )
v.	) NO. 2007-IA-01362-SCT
FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF CLARKSDALE	) )
APPELLEE/PLAINTIFF	) )
AND	) }
EDWARD JOHNSON	) )
APPELLEE/DEFENDANT	) )

PERMISSIVE APPEAL OF INTERLOCUTORY ORDER DENYING MOTION TO RECONSIDER A MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

## APPELLANT'S BRIEF

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

JOHN B. GILLIS
MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.
ATTORNEY FOR DEERE & COMPANY

JOHN B. GILLIS ATTORNEY-AT-LAW 221 MARKET STREET POST OFFICE BOX 185 WATER VALLEY, MISSISSIPPI 38965 (662) 816-5991

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

DEERE & COMPANY	)
APPELLANT/INTERVENING DEFENDANT	)
V.	) NO. 2007-IA-01362-SCT

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE NUMBER 1. Whether the trial court erred in denying Deere's motion to reconsider and motion for summary judgment by rejecting Deere's grounds for the motions that the rule that satisfaction of one judgment satisfies all judgments on the same cause of action precludes any collection activities on the state court judgment since the federal court judgment has been satisfied.

ISSUE NUMBER 2. Whether the trial court erred in denying Deere's motion to reconsider and motion for summary judgment by rejecting Deere's grounds for the motions that the last-in-time judgment rule applies to the facts in this case thereby precluding any collection activities on the state court judgment because the federal court case judgment is the last-in-time judgment on the identical cause of action.

ISSUE NUMBER 3. Whether the trial court erred in denying Deere's motion to reconsider and motion for summary judgment by concluding that under the law of the case doctrine the district court order and the unpublished opinion of the Fifth Circuit in the Anti-Inunction Act matter are the law of the case in <a href="First">First</a> National Bank of Clarksdale v. Johnson, No. 14-CO-01-0411 (County Ct. of Coahoma Co., Miss.).

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## A. NATURE OF CASE.

This is a permissive appeal of an interlocutory order denying Deere & Company's motion to reconsider and for relief from an order denying Deere & Company's motion for summary judgment in <a href="First National Bank of Clarksdale v. Johnson">First National Bank of Clarksdale v. Johnson</a>, No. 14-CO-01-0411 (County Ct. of Coahoma Co., Miss.).

First National Bank of Clarksdale filed a petition for writ of garnishment in <u>First National Bank of Clarksdale v. Johnson</u> in an effort to garnish or intercept any proceeds payable to Edward Johnson, Jr. on the judgment he obtained in <u>Johnson v. Parker Tractor & Implement Co.</u>, No. 14-CI-95-0074 (Cir. Ct. of Coahoma Co., Miss.) on 13 February 1998.

The Johnson v. Parker Tractor & Implement Co. case arose out of a commercial transaction on 25 August 1994 involving Edward Johnson, Jr., d/b/a F & E Farms (Johnson) buying from Parker Tractor & Implement Company, Inc. (Parker Tractor) a John Deere CTS combine, serial number H00CTSX650438. Johnson made a down payment of \$30,634.36 and signed an installment payment contract promising to pay five annual payments of approximately \$32,000.00 each. Johnson reneged on the first installment payment. As a consequence of Johnson's breach of the installment sale contract, Deere & Company (Deere) filed suit on 26 September 1995 in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Mississippi seeking to recover possession of the CTS combine and

the recovery of amounts due under the installment sale contract.

The case was styled and numbered <u>Deere & Co. v. Edward Johnson</u>,

Jr. d/b/a F&E Farms, No. 2:95CV135-P-B.

On 3 October 1995, Johnson filed a complaint Coahoma County suing only Parker Tractor in Johnson v. Parker Tractor & Implement Co. seeking to recover damages for the alleged breach of warranties pertaining to the CTS combine. Parker Tractor and its insurance carrier requested Deere defend and indemnify Parker Tractor because the allegations in the complaint related to new equipment warranties. Deere accepted the tender of defense and agreed to indemnify Parker Tractor.

On 5 October 1995, Johnson served his answer and counterclaim in <a href="Deere & Co. v. Johnson">Deere & Co. v. Johnson</a>. The counterclaim alleged the identical breach of warranties action concerning the identical CTS combine as was asserted in <a href="Johnson v. Parker">Johnson v. Parker</a>
Tractor.

Simultaneous litigation ensued in federal court and state court on the same cause of action alleged in Johnson's pleadings filed in those courts. Inconsistent judgments resulted in the federal court case and the state court case. The federal court case judgment was the last-in-time judgment and it was satisfied as a matter of law when Johnson's judgment for \$30,634.86 was offset by a \$70,000.00 reasonable use charge assessed by the jury for Johnson's use of the combine for three years without paying the annual payments.

Deere, as the indemnitor of Parker Tractor, was granted permission to intervene in the <a href="First National Bank v. Johnson">First</a>
National Bank v. Johnson seeking a judgment in <a href="First">First</a>
National Bank v. Johnson seeking a judgment as a matter of law that judgment enforcement activities pertaining to the state court case were precluded on the grounds that: the federal court case judgment had been satisfied as a matter of law, and satisfaction of this judgment satisfied all judgments on the same cause of action for breach of warranty concerning the CTS combine; the last-in-time judgment rule makes the federal court case judgment the controlling judgment concerning the cause of action for breach of warranty concerning the CTS combine; and estoppel and waiver preclude enforcement of the state court judgment.

Deere's motion for summary judgment and subsequent motion to reconsider and for relief from the order denying the motion for summary judgment were denied by the trial court, leading to this appeal.

## B. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION.

On 25 August 25 1994, Johnson purchased from Parker Tractor a new CTS combine, product identification number H00CTSX650438.

Johnson made a down payment of \$30,634.36 and signed an installment payment contract promising to pay five annual payments of approximately \$32,000.00 each. Johnson reneged on the first installment payment.

On 26 September 1995, Deere, as the assignee of the installment sale contract between Johnson and Parker Tractor, filed suit in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Mississippi seeking to recover possession of the CTS combine and the recovery of amounts due under the note after Johnson defaulted. The case was styled and numbered Deere & Co. v. Edward Johnson, Jr. d/b/a F&E Farms, No. 2:95CV135-P-B. (Hereinafter "federal court case".)

On 3 October 1995, Johnson filed a complaint Coahoma County suing only Parker Tractor seeking to recover damages for the alleged breach of warranties pertaining to the CTS combine. The case was styled and numbered <u>Johnson v. Parker Tractor & Implement Co.</u>, No. 14-CI-95-0074 (Hereinafter sometimes "state court case".) Parker Tractor and its insurance carrier requested Deere defend and indemnify Parker Tractor because the allegations in the complaint related to new equipment warranties. Deere accepted the tender of defense and agreed to indemnify Parker Tractor.

On 5 October 1995, Johnson served his answer and counterclaim in the federal court case. The counterclaim alleged the identical breach of warranties action concerning the identical CTS combine as was asserted in the state court case. The counterclaim was not compulsory since the identical breach of warranties claim had already been asserted in the state court case.

Johnson litigated to judgment his claim against Parker Tractor in the state court case recovering \$90,000.00. The judgment was entered on 13 February 1998. Parker Tractor appealed the judgment.

While the state court case was on appeal, Johnson prosecuted to judgment his breach of warranties claim in the federal court Johnson prevailed on his counterclaim receiving a money judgment in the amount of \$30,634.86. The jury also assessed a reasonable use charge against Johnson in the amount of \$70,000.00 for using the CTS combine for several years to harvest crops without paying for it. Johnson's judgment was satisfied by a \$70,000.00 reasonable use charge assessed against Johnson by the jury for using the CTS combine for several years while not paying for it. Based on J.L. Teel Co. v. Houston United Sales, 491 So. 2d 851 (Miss. 1986), Deere filed a motion to amend the pleadings seeking a judgment awarding it a positive sum judgment for the difference between Johnson's \$30,634.86 recovery and the \$70,000.00 reasonable use charge. The motion was granted and a positive sum amended judgment was entered for Deere. appealed seeking an order reversing the amended judgment awarding Deere a positive sum judgment and a new trial on the counterclaim.

In the federal court case appeal, the Fifth Circuit reversed the positive sum judgment for Deere, otherwise affirmed the Johnson's judgment on the counterclaim, and directed entry of a

judgment reflecting that the reasonable use charge would completely offset Johnson's counterclaim judgment. <u>Deere & Co. v. Johnson</u>, 271 F.3d 613 (5th Cir. 2001). The second amended judgment was entered by the district court on 11 January 2002.

On appeal in the state court case, this court initially reversed and remanded for a new trial with an opinion dated 4

November 1999. Parker Tractor & Imp. Co. v. Johnson, 1999 Miss.

LEXIS 346 (Miss. Nov. 4, 1999). A motion for rehearing was filed and granted. A new opinion was issued on 10 January 2002

affirming the trial court judgment. Parker Tractor & Imp. Co. v.

Johnson, 819 So. 2d 1234 (Miss. 2002).

First National Bank of Clarksdale had a writ of garnishment issued on 17 January 2002 in <u>First National Bank of Clarksdale v.</u>

<u>Johnson</u>, No. 14-CO-01-0411 (County Ct. of Coahoma Co., Miss.) as a judgment creditor of Johnson. First National Bank of Clarksdale is seeking to garnish or intercept any money payable to Johnson on the state court case judgment.

Deere initially tried to secure an injunction from the federal court to protect the federal court judgment under the relitigation exception to the Anti-Injunction Act. The district court granted a 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss refusing to grant the requested relief under this narrow exception. Deere & Company v. Johnson, No. 2:02CV015-B-A (N.D. Miss.). The dismissal was affirmed on appeal. Deere & Company v. Johnson, No. 02-60978 (5th Cir. May 14, 2003) (unpublished opinion; not precedent under

5th CIR. R. 47). The Fifth Circuit noted that any doubts as to the propriety of a federal injunction against state court proceedings should be resolved in favor of permitting the state courts to proceed.

Following the guidance of the Fifth Circuit to resolve the issue in state court, Deere, as the indemnitor of Parker Tractor, filed a motion to intervene in the First National Bank v. Johnson case. The motion was granted. Deere filed a motion for summary judgment in First National Bank v. Johnson seeking a judgment as a matter of law that judgment enforcement activities pertaining to the state court case were precluded on the grounds that: the federal court case judgment had been satisfied as a matter of law, and satisfaction of this judgment satisfied all judgments on the same cause of action for breach of warranty concerning the CTS combine; the last-in-time judgment rule makes the federal court case judgment the controlling judgment concerning the cause of action for breach of warranty concerning the CTS combine; and estoppel and waiver preclude enforcement of the state court judgment. The trial court initially denied Deere's motion for summary judgment concluding that the issue of lost profits had not been decided on the merits in the federal court case; therefore, according to the trial court, there was not an identity of the cause of action in the federal court case and state court case, and therefore the last-in-time rule did not apply.

Deere filed a motion for reconsideration and relief from the order denying the motion for summary judgment providing a certified copy of the civil minutes for the federal court case trial showing judgment as a matter of law was granted on the lost profits issue and a peremptory jury instruction on the lost profits issue; thus, the lost profits issue was decided on the merits in the federal court case. The trial court held a hearing on Deere's motion for reconsideration. Despite the civil minutes from the federal court case showing disposition of the lost profits issue by a judgment as a matter of law, the trial court still found that the issue of lost profits was not decided on the merits so there was not an identity of the cause of action, but altered its rationale for denying Deere's motion for summary judgment after considering the reconsideration motion finding that the orders and opinions in the Anti-Injunction Act matter are the "law of the case" and binding on the state trial court. The trial court never considered the satisfaction of judgment grounds for the relief sought by Deere. The order denying the motion for summary judgment was filed on 23 July 2007.

Deere filed timely a petition for permissive appeal from the order filed on 23 July 2007 denying its motion to reconsider and motion for summary judgment. The petition was granted.

## C. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS.

Deere & Company (Deere) is a Delaware corporation with its principal offices in Moline, Illinois. [R. 205] Parker Tractor

and Implement Company, Inc. (Parker Tractor) is a Deere dealer doing business in Tunica, Mississippi. [R. 170] Edward Johnson Jr., d/b/a F&E Farms (Johnson) is an adult resident citizen of Coahoma County, Mississippi. [R. 205] First National Bank of Clarksdale is a bank doing business in Clarksdale, Mississippi. [R. 4]

Johnson filed his complaint in <u>Johnson v. Parker Tractor & Implement Co.</u>, No. 14-CI-95-0074 (Cir. Ct. Coahoma Co., Miss.) on 3 October 1995 suing Parker Tractor seeking to recover damages for the alleged breach of warranties pertaining to a new John Deere CTS combine manufactured by Deere and sold by Parker Tractor to Johnson on 25 August 1994. (Hereinafter sometimes "state court case".) [R. 170]

Parker Tractor and its insurance carrier, Sentry Insurance Company, requested a defense and indemnity be provided by Deere for Parker Tractor since the allegations related to design and manufacturing defects which Johnson contended breached certain UCC warranties. Deere agreed to indemnify Parker Tractor for any damages assessed against it relating to the CTS combine.1

During the trial of the state court case, Johnson's lawyer informed the jury of the contractual indemnity relationship between Deere and Parker Tractor by asking the following question:

Q. And Deere and Company, John Deere, the people that send these combines down here they are covering Parker Tractor for any losses associated with this case, aren't they?

Parker Tractor & Imp. Co., Inc. v. Johnson, No. 819 So. 2d 1234, ¶30 (Miss. 2002).

On 26 September 1995, Deere filed suit in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Mississippi as a secured creditor seeking to recover possession of the CTS combine and a 922 flex platform which secured a note given by Johnson, and the recovery of amounts due under the note after Johnson defaulted in April 1995. [Exhibit 1 (civil docket for Deere & Co. v. Edward Johnson, Jr. d/b/a F&E Farms) to 29 June 2007 hearing transcript, docket entry 1.] The case was styled Deere & Co. v. Edward Johnson, Jr. d/b/a F&E Farms, No. 2:95CV135-P-B (N.D. Miss., Delta Div.). (Hereinafter "federal court case".) (NOTE: Deere was the assignee of the installment sale contract between Johnson and Parker Tractor. The Fifth Circuit commented in Deere & Co. v. Johnson, 271 F.3d 613, 616, n.1 (5th Cir. 2001) that there was nothing in the record to show that Parker Tractor assigned the installment sale contract to Deere. Apparently, the Fifth Circuit failed to take notice of the double-sided nature of the form and the assignment on the back of the form. Fifth Circuit asked for clarification regarding Deere's status as an assignee at oral argument, counsel would have assisted the members of the panel with understanding the evidence in the record.)

On 29 September 1995, Johnson, through counsel, appeared in the federal court case, and thereafter served on 5 October 1995 his answer and counterclaim alleging the same breach of warranties action which were asserted in the state court case.

[R. 158; Exhibit 1 (federal court case docket) to 29 June 2007 hearing transcript, docket entry 6.]

Johnson litigated to judgment his claim against Parker

Tractor in the state court case recovering \$90,000.00. Parker

Tractor & Imp. Co., Inc. v. Johnson, 819 So. 2d 1234, ¶18 (Miss. 2002). The state court judgment was entered on 13 February 1998.

[http://www.mssc.state.ms.us/Images/Opinions/Conv11388.pdf] The judgment was appealed to the Supreme Court of Mississippi. On 4 November 1999, the Supreme Court of Mississippi reversed the trial court judgment and remanded the case for a new trial.

Johnson filed a petition for rehearing. Parker Tractor & Imp.

Co., Inc. v. Johnson, No. 98-CA-00457-SCT, 1999 WL 1000712 (Miss. Sup. Ct. Nov. 4, 1999). The case remained on the supreme court's docket until 10 January 2002 when the court issued an order granting the petition for rehearing and issued a new decision affirming the trial court judgment. Parker Tractor & Imp. Co., Inc. v. Johnson, 819 So. 2d 1234 (Miss. 2002).

While the state court case was on appeal, Johnson opted to prosecute his breach of warranties claim regarding the CTS combine against Deere in the federal court case. [R. 201 (amended pretrial order in federal court case dated 2 February 1999); R. 229-255 (Johnson's jury instructions in federal court case).]

Johnson's counterclaim in the federal court case was identical to his claim in the state court case. [R. 158 (Johnson's answer and counterclaim in federal court case); R. 170

(Johnson's complaint in state court case); R. 185 (pretrial statement in state court case); R. 201 (amended pretrial order in federal court case).] The nucleus of operative facts relate to a certain CTS combine, serial number HOOCTSX650438, manufactured by Deere and sold by Parker Tractor which Johnson claimed was sold in breach of warranties. [R. 158; R. 170; R. 185; R. 201.]

- Johnson's pleadings in the state court case and the federal court case set-up identical breach of warranty claims. [R. 158 (Johnson's answer and counterclaim in federal court case); R. 170 (Johnson's complaint in state court case); R. 178 (Johnson's first amended complaint in the action against Parker Tractor; this pleading has a federal court caption as the state court case was removed to federal court under federal question jurisdiction because Johnson pled a Magnuson-Moss claim; Johnson's first amended complaint filed in federal court after removal eliminated the Magnuson-Moss claim thereby eliminating any contention that there was federal question jurisdiction, and the case was remanded to state court; the state court case moved forward on the Johnson's amended complaint.)] By comparing these pleadings, there can be no dispute that Johnson prosecuted the same cause of action in both the federal court case and the state court case.
- 2. The pretrial statement in the state court case and the amended pretrial order in the federal court case show that the identical claims were litigated by Johnson, and that the same

facts were in dispute, and that the same evidence was used by Johnson to support his claims. [R. 185 (pretrial statement in state court case); R. 201 (amended pretrial order in federal court case).]

- The same claims and issues were actually decided in the state court case and the federal court case inasmuch as the same breach of warranty claims were submitted to the juries and actually decided by the juries in both cases. The verdict form in the federal court case is reproduced at page 617 of the reported opinion. Deere & Co. v. Johnson, 271 F.3d 613 (5th Cir. 2001). The claims submitted to the jury, as shown by the verdict form, are claims for breach of express and implied warranties. In the state court case, the jury charge included explicit instructions on express warranty of merchantability, implied warranty of merchantability, and implied warranty of fitness for a particular purpose. [R. 223 (copies of the pertinent jury instructions in the state court case); R. 229-255 (copies of pertinent jury instructions in the federal court case, along with a memorandum prepared by Judge Pepper's law clerk concerning how jury instructions issues were resolved).] As shown by the transcript excerpts from the state court case [R. 256], counsel for Johnson made the following arguments concerning the claims at issue and the theories of recovery:
- (a) "Now there are three basis [sic] to go forward on in this case. One is express warranty and it is

complex and it is complicated. It's hard for even lawyers to understand." [R. 258-259]

- (b) "The second theory is, is called the implied warranty of merchantability. It's a mouthful. What it really means is if this combine was not fit for ordinary purposes . . . and it caused Johnson damages, they are liable." [R. 259]
- (c) "The third one is implied warranty of fitness for a particular purpose -- another mouthful." [R. 259]

The trial of the federal court case started on 5 June 2000 with jury selection; presentation of evidence started on 7 June 2000. [R. 293 (federal court case civil minutes)] On 9 June 2000, the jury returned a verdict finding for Johnson on his breach of warranty/revocation of acceptance claim and awarded him \$30,634.86 in damages. <a href="Deere & Co. v. Johnson">Deere & Co. v. Johnson</a>, 271 F.3d at 617. The jury also assessed Johnson with \$70,000.00 in reasonable use charges for his use of the CTS combine for the over three years he used the equipment from the date of purchase until the date of repossession. <a href="Deere & Co. v. Johnson">Deere & Co. v. Johnson</a>, 271 F.3d 613 (5th Cir.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The reasonable use assessment recognizes that one does not get something for nothing in this society. Johnson just paid the down payment of \$30,634.86 in 1994, yet continued to use the CTS combine from 1994 to 1996 to harvest thousands of acres of crops. It is critical to note that the Fifth Circuit reversed the district judge on allowing an amendment to the pleadings to allow Deere a positive sum judgment under the theory of quantum meruit. The Fifth Circuit affirmed the reasonable use assessment against Johnson because the form of the verdict was not objected to by Johnson, and because Johnson made no contemporaneous objections to the evidence presented concerning the number of hours of use and the per hour rental value of a combine.

2001). The verdict was filed on 13 June 2000, and an initial judgment as entered. [Exhibit 1 (docket for federal court case) to 29 June 2007 hearing transcript, docket entry 154.] district judge allowed Deere to amend the pleadings post verdict to set-up a claim for quantum meruit such that Deere would recover a positive sum judgment. [Exhibit 1 (docket for federal court case) to 29 June 2007 hearing transcript, docket entry The judgment was amended awarding Deere the positive sum of the difference between the \$70,000.00 reasonable use award and the \$30,634.86 in damages awarded to Johnson on his counterclaim. [Exhibit 1 (docket for federal court case) to 29 June 2007 hearing transcript, docket entry 176.] Johnson appealed the federal court judgment; Deere cross-appealed. [Exhibit 1 (docket for federal court case) to 29 June 2007 hearing transcript, docket entries 179 and 184.]; Deere & Co. v. Johnson, 271 F.3d at 616, n.1.

To the extent that the issue of Johnson's alleged lost profits is a "cause of action" (and Deere submits that it is not as lost profits is just an element of claimed damages), the issue of alleged lost profits was litigated to conclusion in the federal court case. Deere requested and secured a judgment as a matter of law on the issue of Johnson's alleged lost profits. [R. 293 (federal court case civil minutes), Other Remarks section, third entry, "plaintiff's oral motion for judgment as a matter of law: granted only as to Johnson's claim for lost profits";

Exhibit 1 (docket for federal court case) to 29 June 2007 hearing transcript, docket entry 155.] Deere requested and secured a peremptory instruction, instruction number C-17, on the issue of Johnson's alleged lost profits. [R. 294 (memorandum regarding court's instruction C-17 being given); R. 295-296 (instruction C-17] The last paragraph of the instruction C-17 reads:

You are instructed not to award any damages for alleged lost profits. The court has ruled that these damages may not be awarded.

(Emphasis supplied.)

Appellate litigation ensued in the United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit. Oral argument was heard on 4 September 2001, and the Fifth Circuit handed down its opinion on 12 November 2001 affirming the judgment for Johnson on his breach of warranty claim, reversing the positive sum judgment for Deere, and rendering a judgment on the case with instructions to the district court to enter a "take nothing" judgment (that is, the reasonable use award would only serve to offset and satisfy the damages awarded to Johnson on his breach of warranty claim).

Deere & Co. v. Johnson, 271 F.3d 613 (5th Cir. 2001). Neither party filed a petition for rehearing or a petition for writ of certiorari. The second amended judgment was entered by the district court on 11 January 2002. [Exhibit 1 (docket for federal court case) to 29 June 2007 hearing transcript, docket entry

First National Bank of Clarksdale, as a judgment creditor of

litigation, initiated the action from which Deere now appeals.

[R. 4] First National Bank of Clarksdale is seeking to garnish or intercept any money payable to Johnson on the state court case judgment. Deere, as the indemnitor of Parker Tractor, is a party with an interest relating to the transactions and subject matter which are involved at the judgment enforcement proceedings, and Deere was granted permission to intervene in the action. [R. 107]

Johnson in a matter unrelated to the CTS combine commercial

Deere filed a motion for summary judgment in First National Bank v. Johnson seeking a judgment as a matter of law that judgment enforcement activities pertaining to the state court case were precluded on the grounds that the federal court case judgment satisfaction worked to satisfy the state court case judgment, and the federal court case judgment was the last-intime judgment and therefore the controlling judgment. [R. 126] The trial court denied Deere's motion for summary judgment. Deere filed a motion for reconsideration and relief from the order denying the motion for summary judgment. [R. 280-296] The trial court denied this motion. [R. 300] Despite the civil minutes from the federal court case showing disposition of the lost profits issue by a judgment as a matter of law, the trial court still found that the issue of lost profits was not decided on the merits so there was not an identity of the cause of action, but altered its rationale for denying Deere's motion for summary judgment after considering the reconsideration motion

finding that the orders and opinions in the Anti-Injunction Act matter are the "law of the case" and binding on the state trial court. [R. 300] The trial court never considered the satisfaction of judgment grounds for the relief sought by Deere. The order denying the motion for summary judgment was filed on 23 July 2007. [R. 300]

Deere filed timely a petition for permissive appeal from the order filed on 23 July 2007 denying its motion to reconsider and motion for summary judgment. The petition was granted.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Standard of review. The standard of review for all the issues is de novo. This court employs a de novo standard of review regarding decisions on motions for summary judgment. Pate v. Conseco Life Ins. Co., No. 2006-CA-01496-SCT , ¶3 (Miss. Sup. Ct. Jan. 3, 2008). The de novo standard of review is also applied to questions of law. Russell v. Performance Toyota, Inc., 826 So. 2d 719, 721, ¶5 (Miss. 2002).

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