#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

CAUSE No.: 2007-IA-01362-SCT

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The first in time rule applies to different mandates issued by different courts for *res judica* purposes. *Prager v. El Paso Nat'l Bank*, 417 F.2d 1111, (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1969). The issues presently urged upon the Court have previously been decided and are res judicata or law of the case. *Bush Const Co. V. Walters*, 254 Miss. 266, 272, 179 So. 2d 188, 190 (Miss. 1965)(law of case doctrine applies to those issues actually litigated).

#### ARGUMENT

The final judgment from the state trial court has priority since it was first in time. The fact that the judgment in State Court was appealed (by complaining party's same lawyer) and not affirmed until after the trial in Federal Court does not suspend the binding and legal effect of the state judgment. This is a well-settled rule of law and has been addressed by the Courts several times. In *Mississippi Power & Light Co. v. Town of Coldwater*, 168 F. Supp. 463 (N.D. Miss. 1958) the issue was specifically discussed with regard the res judicata effect of a judgment on appeal. The Court stated:

The question next to arise is whether or not the appeal to the Supreme Court which is still pending prevents the judgment of the trial court from being res judicata. This question has been answered by the Supreme Court of Mississippi. In the case of Earl v. Board of Supervisors, 182 Miss. 636, 181 So. 132, the Court says an appeal with supersedeas does not vacate the judgment appealed from; it merely suspends the enforcement of the judgment pending the determination of the appeal. If on that determination the judgment is affirmed, the effect thereof is to establish or confirm the validity of the judgment from and as the date of its rendition in the court of original jurisdiction. Id at 475. (Emphasis added).

The judgment is final when rendered by the trial court. The appeal of a final judgment does not suspend the judgment. Affirming the judgment on appeal simply confirms the validity of the judgment "from and as of the date of its rendition" in the trial court (Miss. Power & Light Co., supra.). Without dispute, the rendition of the judgment in favor of Johnson in State Court occurred on February 17, 1998, when the final State Court judgment was entered. Parker filed its

notice of appeal from said final judgment on March 17, 1998. The appeal was not interlocutory, and Plaintiff does not allege said appeal was interlocutory. Therefore, without dispute, it was an appeal of a final judgment.

In Raju v. Rhodes, 809 F.Supp 1229 (S.D. Miss. 1992) the District Court noted the obvious in a footnote:

Although plaintiff has filed an appeal with the Mississippi Supreme Court seeking to overturn the judgment of the circuit court, under Mississippi law the pendency of an appeal has no effect on the preclusiveness of an administrative or judicial determination. (Citation omitted) Id. at 1236, footnote 8.

It simply does not matter when either of the Appellate Courts issued their opinions, because a pending appeal does not affect the preclusiveness of the judgment (unless of course the original judgment is reversed rather than affirmed as it was in this instance). The State Court judgment was entered first and affirmed on appeal. Deere raised these same issues in *Deere II* which were rejected and ruled upon by both the United States District Court and the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals. Judge Pepper dismissed Deere's action and the Fifth Circuit affirmed. (R. 102-106). Despite the fact that the Fifth Circuit specifically rejected the "last in time rule" and instead applied the "first in time" rule in *Deere II*. (R. 105), Deere continues to litigate this issue which has already been decided. Not only are they res judicata. They are now the law of the case. *Bush Const Co. V. Walters*, 254 Miss. 266, 272, 179 So. 2d 188, 190 (Miss. 1965)(law of the case doctrine applies to those issues actually litigated).

Appellant argues that when there are successive inconsistent judgements, the last judgment prevails (Brief at page 34). Appellant also argues the federal court case "became the first, conclusive final judgment since the reported decision and mandate of the Fifth Circuit

predate the state supreme court decision. The judgments are not as inconsistent as Deere's arguments.

The last in time rule is not applicable to the undisputed facts in this case. None of the cases cited by appellant bear any similarity to the procedural situation in this matter. The cases cited by the Appellant deal with situations in which a party has failed to raise the affirmative defense of issue or claim preclusion, an affirmative defense the Courts have held can be waived. Here, the final state court judgment had been reversed by the Supreme Court of Mississippi, but a petition for rehearing had been granted and the case was still with the Mississippi Supreme Court when the federal trial began. Plaintiff sought a continuance pending that decision, and the District Court denied same (L.F. 117). Appellee had no choice but to present his compulsory counterclaim/affirmative defense to the jury.

The result on the trial of the issues was the same in both courts, the combine was a "lemon." *Deere*, supra at 616; *Parker*, supra at 1240. There is nothing inconsistent there. The amount of the damages was different, only because the District Court would not allow evidence of lost profits based on an unpublished opinion which was later withdrawn (as noted by District Judge Pepper in his Memorandum Opinion at page 2 (L.F. 117). The verdict on damages was different then, but not inconsistent. The damages awarded in the state case were for lost profits, see *Parker Tractor and Implement Co. v. Johnson*, 819 So.2d 1234, 1240 (Miss.2002). The damages awarded in the federal case were for the down payment of the combine, see *Deere & Co. v. Johnson*, 271 F.3d 613, 616 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2001).

The case of *Donald v. J.J. White Lumber Co.*, 68 F.2d 441 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1934) cited by Appellant demonstrates the flaw in Deere's "two conflicting judgments argument." In *Donald*, a dispute arose between Donald and the Internal Revenue Service over the value per thousand feet

of certain timber he owned. The lower the value per thousand feet, the higher amount of income from the timber land was taxable. The effective date of the Revenue Act was March 13, 1913 and when taxes were collected from 1917 to 1924, the parties agreed that the value of the timber was \$5.25 per thousand feet. Donald later brought three separate suits for refunds against the Internal Revenue Service. In the first suit, the value per thousand feet was determined to be \$5.34.

A second action was subsequently brought by Donald against the Revenue Service and a value of \$7.00 per thousand feet was established. A third action was filed by Donald and a recovery was again made based upon \$7.00 per thousand feet. The judgment of the first action was December 4, 1931. The judgment for the second action was April 9, 1932 and the judgment for the third was July 9, 1932. No appeal was taken from the first two actions, but an appeal was taken by the Revenue Service from the third action. The only basis for the appeal was that Donald was estopped from claiming a higher value than the \$5.25 per thousand feet agreed upon in 1913. In rejecting the Revenue Services argument, this Court specifically noted that the Government could have raised the value of the timber established by the judgment in the first action to establish the value of the timber in the second suit, but "for reasons of its own, chose not to rely on it in that suit, and in our opinion thereby waived it, and cannot assert it in this case." *Id.* at 442.

It is clear that the facts of *Donald*, in which the Defendant Government waived the prior judgment's conclusiveness, are distinguishable from the facts in the case sub judice. Johnson urged the District Court that the Mississippi judgment precluded any judgment that could have been rendered and to continue the Federal trial until the Mississippi Supreme Court either

affirmed or reversed the Circuit Court's judgment.<sup>1</sup> The District Court denied the relief sought.

Therefore, there was no waiver, and *Donald* is not applicable.

These facts simply do not fit the case sub judice. First, Johnson did not waive the preclusive effects of the State Court judgment by filing answer and compulsory counter claim in the Federal Case. He was the Defendant in the Federal Case and was required to assert his compulsory counterclaim, or risk waiving it. Second, the State Court judgment, although rendered first, was still pending on appeal during the Federal Trial. Johnson urged the Federal Court to continue the trial until the Mississippi Supreme Court ruled on the appeal. Finally, Johnson did not bring a third action. Instead, the third action was initiated by *Deere*, in an attempt to prevent its dealer, *Parker*, from paying a judgment properly rendered by a court of competent jurisdiction in Mississippi. It is Deere who should be estopped.

V.

#### **CONCLUSION**

The "last in time" rule, which is the subject of the present petition for interlocutory appeal, has been rejected by both the Federal Courts, and now by a State Court judge. The issue has already been decided by either the principals of *res judicata* or of the law of the case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Of course, if the Mississippi Supreme Court reversed the judgment of the Circuit Court, then the Federal Judgment would have been the first final judgment.